
 

 
 

Scan the code above or visit www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings 
for a full copy of the agenda. 

 

 

 
Meeting LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE 
 
Time/Day/Date 6.00 pm on Thursday, 15 October 2020 
 
Location Remote meeting using Microsoft Teams 
 
Officer to contact Democratic Services 01530 454512 
 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item  Pages 

 
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 Under the Code of Conduct members are reminded that in declaring 
disclosable interests you should made clear the nature of that interest and 
whether it is pecuniary or non-pecuniary. 
 

 

3  PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION  
 

 

 To receive questions from members of the public under rule no.10 of the 
Council Procedure Rules.  
 

 

4  MINUTES  
 

 

 To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 24 September 2020 
 

3 - 8 

5  PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE WHITE PAPER - RESPONSE TO 
CONSULTATION  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure 
 

9 - 32 

6  POTENTIAL STRATEGIC SITES INFRASTRUCTURE STUDY  
 

 

 Report of the Head of Planning and Infrastructure 
 

33 - 44 

 
Circulation:  
 
Councillor J Bridges (Chairman) 
Councillor D Harrison (Deputy Chairman) 
Councillor D Bigby 
Councillor R Boam 

http://www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings


Councillor J Hoult 
Councillor R Johnson 
Councillor J Legrys 
Councillor V Richichi 
Councillor A C Saffell 
Councillor N Smith 
Councillor M B Wyatt 
Councillor R Ashman (Portfolio Holder) 



1 
 

Chairman’s initials 

MINUTES of a meeting of the LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE held by Remote meeting using 
Microsoft Teams on THURSDAY, 24 SEPTEMBER 2020  
 
Present:  Councillor J Bridges (Chairman) 
 
Councillors D Harrison, R Boam, J Hoult, R Johnson, J Legrys, V Richichi, A C Saffell, N Smith, 
M B Wyatt and J Geary (Substitute for Councillor D Bigby)   
 
Officers:  Mr I Nelson, Mr C Elston, Mrs C Hammond, Miss S Odedra and Mr T Delaney 
 

9 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies were received from Councillor D Bigby. 
 

10 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
There were no interests declared. 
 

11 PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION 
 
There were no questions. 
 

12 MINUTES 
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting held on 29 July 2020. 
 
It was moved by Councillor D Harrison, seconded by Councillor J Legrys and  
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 29 July 2020 be approved and signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record. 
 
The Chairman advised Members that Councillor J Legrys had submitted the following 
question:- 
 
‘Changes to the Use Classes Order  
 
 HMG published the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England) 
Regulations 2020. These came in to force on 1 September 2020.   
 
Use classes A, B and D no longer exist. A new class E (commercial, business and 
service) has been created. This subsumes A1 (shops), A2 (financial and professional 
services), A3 (restaurants and cafes) and B1 (business). Other parts of Class B –(B2) 
Industrial processes other than those falling with use Class B1, and (B8) Storage and 
Distribution – remain unchanged.   

 I ask if the current Local Plan remains in force until the Partial Review Inspector 
makes any changes?  

 If the Amendment Order of 1st September 2020 demands class changes from that 
date; What transitional arrangements to the current Local Plan are being made?   

 How will the Planning Class changes affect planning decisions made by 
Committee/Officers but not yet been given formal Planning Approval/Notice?’ 

The Chairman thanked Councillor J Legrys for submitting the question and invited officers 
to respond. 

3

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

Chairman’s initials 

The Planning Policy Team Manager advised that the Local Plan was unchanged, but the 
changes to the Use Classes Order would override anything in the Local Plan, as they 
were national regulations. The Local Plan review would need to address any changes 
arising from the revised Use classes Order and indeed the Inspector at the Partial Review 
Examination had asked a question about this, but at this time, there was only a limited 
need for any changes.   

The Head of Planning and Infrastructure advised that there were no applications reported 
to Planning Committee waiting for a decision where a condition on restricting changes of 
use under the Use Classes Order was recommended. If there were any delegated 
decisions or S106 agreements affected, officers would assess any decision before issue 
to make sure there were no previously unforeseen impacts in terms of permitted 
development changes of use, new under Class E. 

He also advised that the updated When is planning permission required? guidance 
included several new paragraphs, including the new paragraph 021b which was titled: Do 
the changes made to the Use Classes Order in September 2020 cut across the 
requirements of pre-existing planning conditions or pre-existing planning obligations? 
 
He noted that the guidance said that the "recent regulations do not override any existing 
planning conditions or planning obligation which specifically prohibits a new use. 
However, in considering an application for the discharge, modification or removal of 
conditions limiting changes of use within any of the expanded classes of use, the local 
planning authority should have regard to the new regulations and the advice in this 
guidance. 

Councillor J Legrys thanked officers for the responses and asked if the class changes 
effected the five-year land supply issue, which would be in continuance if and when, the 
Planning White paper was passed by Westminster. 
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager confirmed the changes to the Class Uses Order 
would have no implications on the five-year land supply, as they did not deal with housing. 
 

13 MINISTRY OF HOUSING, COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT CHANGES TO 
THE CURRENT PLANNING SYSTEM: CONSULTATION ON CHANGES TO PLANNING 
POLICY AND REGULATIONS 
 
Before presenting the report the Planning Policy Team Manager provided members with 
an update on the Local Plan Partial Review Examination that been held the previous 
week. 
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager presented the report to the committee. He presented 
each of the four main proposals set out in the consultation document one by one taking 
questions after each one.  
 
Proposal 1: Changes to the Standard Method for Assessing Local Housing Need 
 
Councillor M B Wyatt noted that any increase in housing would be bad for North West 
Leicestershire and that the public did not want any more development. He stated that the 
authority needed to take those comments on board and tell National Government that the 
district had had enough and to stop destroying the countryside and green wedges. 
 
Councillor J Legrys thanked officers for an excellent, honest and straightforward report. 
He was concerned at the increase in house numbers and asked what methodology 
MHCLG had used to come up with the figures for NWL. He noted that it had been proven 
that the country needed an additional 4.8m homes over the next 30 years and an increase 
in the number of homes being suggested for the district. He sought clarification if it was a 

4

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/when-is-permission-required#history


3 
 

Chairman’s initials 

political decision to increase the figures or if there had been a genuine well-researched 
academic explanation as to why the additional homes were needed. 
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager referred to paragraph 2.8 of the report that set out the 
methodology that was used and when working through the calculations the requirement 
was 1,153 homes within the district. 
 
Councillor N Smith stated that residents he had spoken to were fed up of expanding 
villages and settlements through development that would lead to the joining up of 
separate areas within the district. He felt it would be better to set out a completely new 
settlement in the northern parishes, where employment was, and condition that sufficient 
low cost housing was included to support those on low incomes.  
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager advised that the creation of a new settlement was a 
serious option that was on the table and would be explored. He clarified that the table on 
page 13 of the report set out what the figures might mean for the district but not what it 
would mean, this would be addressed through the Local Plan review. 
 
Councillor R Boam felt that more houses should be built, as there was a requirement for 
them, adding that it had to be the right houses in the right places. 
 
Councillor T Saffell noted that he had suggested and identified a location and developers 
to build a new settlement over a year ago and felt that it needed to be investigated as 
soon as possible.  
 
Councillor J Geary noted that residents did not want any further development, however in 
the real world, it was not the case and the authority needed to start controlling what was 
required. He felt that many developments appeared to be ad hoc, adding on to the 
infrastructure that was already in place and noted that the current infrastructure was not 
capable of taking any more homes. He felt that the correct infrastructure needed to be put 
in place before one thousand homes a year were built.   
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager advised on infrastructure and what was needed 
would be something that would be addressed as part of the Local Plan Review. 
 
Councillor R Johnson agreed with Councillor Geary and noted that the ward that he 
covered had taken 52% of the required housing set out in the Local Plan with no proper 
infrastructure. He stated that the appendices answered all his questions and sought 
clarification as to whether the parish neighbourhood plan was safe. 
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager advised as it stood it was. 
 
The Legal Advisor sought clarification on the comments that were raised by Councillor M 
B Wyatt and asked him to confirm if these were his own views he was expressing or if he 
was voicing the concerns of the public, so to avoid any future concerns being raised over 
pre-determination as a member of the Planning Committee. 
 
Councillor M B Wyatt confirmed that they were the views of the public that he was voicing.  
 
Proposal 2: Delivering First Homes 
 
Councillor J Legrys stated personally he was not keen on the first home project but was 
aware that the authority was and it would need to be delivered. He noted that the 
Government intended to set out a policy with a minimum of 25% affordable housing units 
to be secured and mostly delivered onsite, but expressed concerns that developers 
always seemed to find a way out of providing the required first homes following granting 
permission. He felt 25% was the right figure but questioned whether it would be delivered 

5



4 
 

Chairman’s initials 

in reality. He noted that a future white paper would seek to abolish S106 contributions and 
CILs, putting it on the planning authority to put the appropriate infrastructure in at their 
expense. He felt that, having researched the details, it maybe that the proposals may not 
be delivered. He felt that the authority needed to have more information on the 
methodology on how MHCLG came up with the figures, to ensure that the numbers were 
acceptable and understood. 
 
Councillor R Johnson highlighted that in paragraph 3.12 it stated ‘First Homes of local first 
time buyers’ and asked how the authority would guarantee that it was locals who brought 
the houses. 
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager advised that restrictions were included in the original 
consultation. He informed Members that a number of sites in the district, where affordable 
housing had been secured, where there was a requirement to sell the homes at a reduced 
market value and the buyers had to demonstrate that they were local. He explained how it 
was demonstrated that they were local and the various approaches that were taken by the 
developers. 
 
Proposal 3: Supporting Small and Medium-Sized Developers (SMEs) 
 
Councillor J Legrys supported the proposal in principle and felt that the Council should be 
responding to the number of plots that were handed over to SMEs. He expressed 
concerns that a number of larger developers would create a number of shell SMEs to 
overcome their issue of being able to develop. He felt that local SMEs should get a fair 
opportunity for house building, which they were unable to do due to cost, and was 
concerned that SMEs would not be allowed to get a foot in the door. He urged Cabinet to 
ask the Government to clarify what they wanted the authority to do with the proposal and, 
who would determine what size would be classed as a SME. 
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager noted that concerns had been raised over larger 
developers setting up smaller companies but was not sure what would be done. He noted 
that Appendix A set out the responses that Cabinet were being asked to agree.  
 
Councillor V Richichi questioned whether the Council actively supported small builders 
and if it did, he felt more needed to be done. 
 
Councillor J Bridges advised that the report was trying to achieve further support. 
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager advised that the report noted that clarification was 
needed as to what was classed as a SME and asked members if they wished to include 
some wording in the response to question 17. 
 
Councillor J Legrys supported the inclusion of the wording seeking clarification as to what 
constituted an SME and felt that SMEs had missed out on a great deal of building in NWL. 
 
Proposal 4: Extension of the Permission in Principle Consent Regime 
 
Councillor J Legrys stated that he did not really understand Permission in Principle to 
Consent and was confused about how the request to increase size for permission to 
consent would reflect on the white papers on zoning and felt that there was mixed 
messaging coming from MHCLG over the planning process.  
 
The committee then had opportunity to make any further comments on the report. 
 
In relation to public sector equality, Councillor J Legrys asked how it would affect the 
Council under the current Local Plan process to deal with Gypsies and Travellers. 
 

6



5 
 

Chairman’s initials 

The Planning Policy Team Manager advised that the question on public sector equality 
related to the proposals under the current consultation, which did not include anything 
specific on gypsies and travellers. 
 
Councillor J Legrys stated that a great deal of comments had been made about the 
proposals and felt that the minutes from the meeting should be considered at Cabinet 
meeting. He was uneasy about the consultation and felt there was a lack of understanding 
as to what the proposals meant to the Council. 
 
It was confirmed by officers that the minutes from the meeting would be submitted to the 
Cabinet, as additional papers, prior to the meeting the following week. 
 
Councillor V Richichi noted that compared to many other authorities who would only 
double the number of houses to be built and some reduced the number, NWL would be 
trebling the number. He asked that the Council challenge the number that was required. 
 
The Planning Policy Team Manager advised that it had been covered in proposal 1, and 
drew member’s attention to the suggested response to question 5. 
 
Members agreed to include additional wording ‘Clarification is required as to what is a 
small to medium sized developer’ to question 17. 
 
It was moved by Councillor V Richichi, seconded by Councillor D Harrison and 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Subject to the inclusion of ‘Clarification is required as to what is a small to medium sized 
developer’ to question 17, it be recommended that Cabinet responds to the consultation in 
respect of Changes To The Current Planning System as set out in appendices 1-4 of the 
report. 
 
 
Councillor M B Wyatt left the meeting at 6.48pm. 
Councillor T Saffell left the meeting at 6.53pm. 
 

The meeting commenced at 6.00 pm 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 7.14 pm 
 

 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE – THURSDAY 15 OCTOBER 2020 
 

Title of Report 
 

MINISTRY OF HOUSING, COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT – CONSULTATION ON PLANNING FOR THE 
FUTURE WHITE PAPER 

Presented by Ian Nelson 
Planning Policy Team Manager  
 

Background Papers  
Planning for the Future – 
White Paper 
  
  

Public Report: Yes 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Financial Implications The proposed changes would have significant resource 
implications for the Council. The consultation recognises this and 
does refer to making additional resources available for local 
authorities. However, at this time the exact impact is unclear. 
 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications Although there are no legal implications with submitting 
comments to this consultation, the suggested changes if 
implemented by the Government will have legal implications.   
 
Under the current system, each local planning authority must 
engage with neighbouring local planning authorities under the 
duty to co-operate provisions set out in legislation. This places a 
legal duty to engage with one another in the context of strategic 
cross boundary development matters. In addition, local planning 
authorities must demonstrate how they have complied with the 
duty at the independent examination of their Local Plan. The 
proposals under the White Paper seeks to remove this duty, 
along with other legal tests such as the current test of soundness 
in preparing local plans.  
 
The proposed changes to national planning legislation will need 
to be examined carefully as the Council continues to prepare for 
the substantive review of its local plan pending these proposed 
changes, as well as future reviews, particularly because the 
NPPF would become the primary source of policies for 
development management in England. The suggested changes 
will also mean future local plans would need to be completed 
within 30 months. 
 
The role of planning committees would be reduced, as the 
proposals create a far more centralised planning system. 
 
The Council would be subject to a new performance framework 
which would enable earlier intervention/sanction if ‘problems’ 
emerge and deadlines set are not met. 
 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

The suggested changes could have implication for how the 
Planning service is organised and resourced.  
 

Signed off by the Deputy Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 

Purpose of Report To consider the Government’s White Paper entitled ‘Planning for 
the future’ 

9

Agenda Item 5

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907647/MHCLG-Planning-Consultation.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907647/MHCLG-Planning-Consultation.pdf


 

Recommendations THAT CABINET BE ADVISED THAT THIS COMMITTEE 
RECOMMENDS THAT CABINET RESPONDS TO THE 
CONSULTATION IN RESPECT OF THE PLANNING FOR THE 
FUTURE WHITE PAPER AS SET OUT IN SECTIONS 3 TO 5 
OF THE REPORT 

 
 
1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government is seeking views on 

proposed changes to the planning system set out in a White Paper (Planning for the 

Future) which it has issued for consultation. The consultation document can be viewed 

here. This consultation closes on 29 October 2020. 

1.2 The consultation states that the government wishes to “undertake fundamental reform of 

the planning system to address its underlying weaknesses”. 

1.3  To achieve this it sets out five overarching aims: 

 To streamline the planning process with more democracy taking place more 

effectively at the plan-making stage, and will replace the entire corpus of plan-

making law in England to achieve this; 

 To take a radical, digital-first approach to modernise the planning process. This 

means moving from a process based on documents to a process driven by data; 

 To bring a new focus on design and sustainability; 

 To improve infrastructure delivery in all parts of the country and ensure developers 

play their part, through reform of developer contributions; and 

 To ensure more land is available for the homes and development people and 

communities need, and to support renewal of our town and city centres 

 

1.4  These aims are then supported by three pillars with each pillar the subject of a number of 

proposals:  

 Pillar One – Planning for development (Proposals 1 to 10) 

 Pillar Two – Planning for beautiful and sustainable places (Proposals 11 to 18) 

 Pillar Three – Planning for infrastructure and connected places (Proposals 19 to 

24) 

 

1.5 There are a series of questions throughout the consultation document which largely relate 

to the actual proposals, although some of the proposals are not subject to a specific 

question. A number of questions (for examples questions 1 to 4 – see Appendix A) 

appear to be aimed more at members of the public rather than local authorities or other 

institutions. Therefore, no response is proposed to these questions in this report. Should 

members want a reply to these questions be included then they should advise officers of 

the suggested response.  

1.6 Section 2 provides an over view of why the government considers that reform is required.  

1.7 Sections 3 to 5 this report provide an outline of the various proposals. The box after each 

proposal sets out the specific questions and the suggested response (in bold).  

1.8 As this is a White Paper it is inevitable that there is a lack of detail. This does make 

responding quite difficult as ultimately it is the details which will determine whether the 

proposals are successful or not. For this reason, a number of the questions are 

responded to with a ‘not sure’. 

 

2.0 WHY IS REFORM NEEDED 

10

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907647/MHCLG-Planning-Consultation.pdf


 

2.1 The consultation identifies that the government considers that reform of the planning 

system is needed because: 

 It is too complex; 

 Decisions are discretionary rather than rules based; 

 It takes too long to adopt a Local Plan; 

 Assessments of housing need, viability and environmental impacts are too 

complex and opaque; 

 It has lost public trust; 

 It is based on 20th-century technology; 

 The process for negotiating developer contributions to affordable housing and 

infrastructure is complex; 

 There is not enough focus on design, and little incentive for high quality new 

homes and places; 

 It does not lead to enough homes being built. 

 

3.0 PILLAR ONE – PLANNING FOR DEVELOPMENT  

3.1 A new approach to plan making  

3.1.1 Proposal 1: The role of land use plans should be simplified (question 5) 

 New local plans will be required to designate land into one of three categories: 

• Growth, suitable for "substantial development" the meaning of which would be 

defined in policy “to remove any debate about this descriptor”. It would include 

urban extensions, new settlements and areas for redevelopment. A site included in 

this category would have outline approval for development (further information on 

this is included under Proposal 5). 

• Renewal, suitable for "development including gentle densification and infill of 

residential areas, development in town centres, and development in rural areas that 

is not identified as Growth or Protected areas. 

• Protected, this would include sites and areas which, as a result of their particular 

environmental and/or cultural characteristics, would justify more stringent 

development controls to ensure sustainability (e.g. Areas of Outstanding Natural 

Beauty, Conservation Areas, Local Wildlife Sites and important areas of green 

space). The text suggests that some development might still be ‘permissible’. 

 

The consultation suggests that an alternative approach would be to limit permission in 

principle to areas identified for substantial growth (i.e. growth areas). 

5. Do you agree that Local Plans should be simplified in line with our proposals? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 
No. 
 
The proposed approach is too simplistic. Dividing all land into areas implies that 
impacts can be neatly contained in their respective areas. However, land types do 
not respect natural boundaries. For example, nature, and the wider environment are 
cross-boundary matters and do not sit neatly within such a rigid approach. How 
will wildlife and the natural environment be protected when it is located outside a 
'protected' area? The approach potentially conflicts with the Environment Bill's 
proposals on biodiversity net gain and improvement plans. 
 
Such an approach also does not provide sufficient flexibility to deal with changing 
circumstances. For example, if an area is identified as being Protected but a major 
proposal arises for the creation of a significant number of new and well paid jobs 
as a result of inwards investment, then such a proposal could not be supported, 

11



 

unless the policy pertaining to the Protected area allowed for such circumstances 
in which case how is this different to the current approach?  
 
It is not clear as to whether Protected Areas could include areas within an 
otherwise Growth Area. It is noted that some Protected Areas would be defined 
nationally and some locally, but there is a lack of clarity as to how such areas 
would be defined or what flexibility there would be for local authorities in defining 
such areas.  The term ‘Protected’ could be misleading if some form of development 
is to be allowed and so an alternative form of wording might be appropriate.  
 
In Growth Areas it would be necessary to try and envisage all the different types of 
development that would be appropriate and how they would need to look. This 
could lead to long and unwieldy Design Codes or Masterplans. It is difficult to see 
how such a level of detail could be achieved within the local plan process itself, 
given the proposed new time limit and the emphasis on front-end community 
engagement. To reconcile with the time limits suggested in the consultation it may 
be necessary to minimise the amount of detail that Design Codes or Masterplans 
contain such that they would be virtually meaningless and so result in very little 
control over subsequent development, to the detriment of local communities.  
 
Furthermore, it is not clear as to what the expectations would be in terms of 
assessing the likely environmental implications arising from a Masterplan or 
Design Code for development in in Growth area.  

 

3.1.2 Proposal 2: Development management policies established at national scale and an 

altered role for Local Plans (question 6) 

 It is proposed that development management policies contained in local plans would be 

restricted to those that are necessary site or area-specific requirements, including broad 

height limits, scale and/or density limits for land included in Growth areas and Renewal 

areas, established through the accompanying text. The National Planning Policy 

Framework would become the primary source of policies for development management. 

Local Plans would be concerned with specific development standards.  

 It is proposed that the local plan would be supported by Design Guides and Codes, 

potentially twin tracked alongside the preparation of the local plan. 

 

Question 6. Do you agree with our proposals for streamlining the development 

management content of Local Plans, and setting out general development management 

policies nationally? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

No 

It is not considered that it would be possible to develop a set of national policies 

which would be sufficiently meaningful whilst also recognising the uniqueness of 

different areas. There is a risk that such policies would be so generic as to be 

meaningless. What is appropriate in one area of the country may not be appropriate 

in other areas. For example, within North West Leicestershire it would be 

appropriate to continue to include policies that relate to the National Forest and 

also the River Mease Special Area of Conservation, as these are important local 

considerations which could not be reflected in national policies.  

 

3.1.3 Proposal 3: Local Plans should be subject to a single statutory “sustainable development” 

test, replacing the existing tests of soundness (question 7). 

It is proposed: 

12



 

 That this would consider whether the plan contributes to achieving sustainable 

development in accordance with policy issued by the Secretary of State. 

 To remove the requirement for a Sustainability Appraisal and replace it with a 

simplified system for assessing environmental impacts and to also remove the 

Duty to Cooperate requirement (whilst also looking at how to ensure cross 

boundary strategic issues are planned for).  

 

7(a). Do you agree with our proposals to replace existing legal and policy tests for Local 

Plans with a consolidated test of “sustainable development”, which would include 

consideration of environmental impact? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting 

statement.]  

Not sure in the absence of details as to what the “Sustainable Development” would 

actually entail. The consultation document states “The achievement of sustainable 

development is an existing and well-understood basis for the planning system”. 

However, this is misleading as sustainable development can be interpreted in many 

different ways. Any test would need to be absolutely clear in terms of what it entails 

and how it is expected that it would be assessed through the Examination process. 

There is a need to avoid the mistakes of the past when the Local Development 

Framework system was introduced and the first plans failed the test of 

‘Soundness’, so setting back plan making.  

Any proposed test needs to be subject to extensive consultation with practitioners 

before it is formally introduced.  

7(b). How could strategic, cross-boundary issues be best planned for in the absence of a 

formal Duty to Cooperate? 

This would need to be included as part of the “sustainable development test” with 

authorities being required to demonstrate that account has been taken of any 

cross-boundary issues, using a mechanism along the a lines of a Statement of 

Common Ground. There would be a need for some form of national guidance as to 

what constitutes a cross-boundary issue including a definition of strategic 

infrastructure. 

 

3.1.4 Proposal 4: A standard method for establishing housing requirement figures which 

ensures enough land is released in the areas where affordability is worst, to stop land 

supply being a barrier to enough homes being built. The housing requirement would 

factor in land constraints and opportunities to more effectively use land, including through 

densification where appropriate, to ensure that the land is identified in the most 

appropriate areas and housing targets are met (question 8) 

This would represent a further change to the standard method used to identify the 

housing requirement in a local plan, from that proposed as part of the “Changes to the 

Current Planning system” consultation recently considered by members.   

The consultation identifies that the requirement would build in a buffer” to account for the 

drop off rate between permissions and completions as well as offering sufficient choice to 

the market”.  

Local authorities would still have the responsibility to allocate land suitable for housing. 

It is suggested that the proposed approach should ensure that enough land is planned for 

and with sufficient certainty as to its development and so it is proposed to remove the 

requirement for a demonstrating 5-year supply of housing land, but the housing delivery 

test and the presumption in favour of sustainable development would be retained.  

8(a). Do you agree that a standard method for establishing housing requirements (that 

13



 

takes into account constraints) should be introduced? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please 
provide supporting statement.]  
 
No 
 
It is not clear whether the outcome form the standard method would be updated 
annually or would it be for a set period of time. If the latter as the outcome from this 
would be binding, it offers no flexibility to take account of any changes in 
circumstances. Either way, it represents a top down approach to planning.  
 
Again the lack of detail regarding any proposal makes it difficult to comment. A key 
consideration will be what constraints are to be considered as this will impact upon 
the final requirement figure, but also who will be the final decision maker as to what 
is a constraint? Will there be consultation with authorities and other stakeholders? 
Furthermore, it is not clear as to whether all constraints will be given equal 
weighting or will some carry more weight. Again who would determine such 
weighting and will there be any consultation prior to a decision being made? The 
process for making decisions needs to be totally transparent to ensure a 
consistent approach across the country.   
 
It would appear that Green Belt is being considered as sacrosanct. It is not 
considered that this represents a sustainable approach and would penalise those 
areas without Green Belt, even though it may be Green Belt authorities that have 
been under delivering. 
 
8(b). Do you agree that affordability and the extent of existing urban areas are appropriate 
indicators of the quantity of development to be accommodated? [Yes / No / Not sure. 
Please provide supporting statement.] 
 
Not sure. 
 
More clarity is required to be better able to understand how this proposal might 
operate. For example, what is meant by an urban area? There needs to be a clear 
definition. 
 
Whilst it is reasonable to assume that larger urban areas will generate more need, 
this does not mean that such areas are capable of accommodating such 
development. 
 
It is not clear from the consultation as to how the affordability element is to be 
defined. For example, is it to be as per the recent consultation on other changes to 
the standard method (Changes to the current planning system) or is it to be a 
different approach. If the former, the Council is of the view that this gives too much 
weight to affordability which in itself is an extremely complex issue, not all of which 
is related to the availability of housing.    

 

3.2 A streamlined development management process with automatic planning 

permission for schemes in line with plans  

3.2.1 Proposal 5: Areas identified as Growth areas (suitable for substantial development) would 

automatically be granted outline planning permission for the principle of development, 

while automatic approvals would also be available for pre-established development types 

in other areas suitable for building (question 9). 

In areas suitable for substantial development (Growth areas) an outline permission for the 

principle of development would be conferred by adoption of the Local Plan. Further details 

would be agreed and full permission achieved through streamlined and faster consent 

routes which focus on securing good design and addressing site-specific technical issues. 

14



 

In areas suitable for development (Renewal areas), there would be a general presumption 

in favour of development. Consent for development would be granted in one of three 

ways: 

•  for pre-specified forms of development through a new permission route which 

gives an automatic consent if the scheme meets design and other prior 

approval requirements  

•  a faster planning application process where a planning application for the 

development would be determined in the context of the Local Plan description; 

or 

• a Local or Neighbourhood Development Order. 

 

Proposals in protected areas would continue to come forward as planning applications.  

9(a). Do you agree that there should be automatic outline permission for areas for 
substantial development (Growth areas) with faster routes for detailed consent? [Yes / No 
/ Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]  
 
No 
 
It is not clear as to what would constitute “Suitable for substantial development” 
and nor is it clear as to how any environmental impacts are expected to be taken in 
to account and assessed as part of the process of identifying Growth Areas in 
Local Plans, particularly as it is proposed to no longer require a Sustainability 
Appraisal. Would a developer still be required to undertake an Environmental 
Impact Assessment (EIA) at the full permission stage? If so, this just means that 
the EIA is being done later in the process, so not saving the developer time and 
money. However, of more concern is what then happens if such an assessment 
identifies an impact which cannot be resolved but there is permission in principle 
for the site? 
 
The planning process should not be based on speed at the expense of unforeseen 
adverse impacts and the environment, these need to be considered as part of the 
plan making process. 
 
Proposal 14 in respect of a fast track for beauty suggests that site-specific codes 
and masterplans could be developed "subsequent to" the local plan being 
approved. However, it also states that these documents "should be in place prior to 
detailed proposals coming forward" in the area. This is a contradiction which 
requires clarification. It is also suggested that that masterplans could in some 
cases be prepared by the site promoter rather than by the local authority. This 
passes control from the local authority to the site promoter, but what happens if 
the local authority have concerns about the masterplan. Would this then be an 
issue to be resolved at Examination? If so it would add more time to the 
Examination process.   
 
North West Leicestershire already has a Good Design Guide in place which is 
resulting in higher quality of developments. There is a concern that this could be 
diluted if control is passed to the developer.  
 
If there is an expectation that plans include some form of masterplan, and there is 
also a strict timetable for preparing local plans, then these need to avoid being too 
detailed whilst also giving a clear indication as to what is expected.  
 
9(b). Do you agree with our proposals above for the consent arrangements for Renewal 
and Protected areas? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]  
 
No 
 
It is questioned as to whether it is possible to identify all the likely future uses that 

15



 

could be acceptable in such areas. What might be appropriate in one area, might 
not be so in another area. 
 
9(c). Do you think there is a case for allowing new settlements to be brought forward 
under the Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects regime? [Yes / No / Not sure. 
Please provide supporting statement.] 
 
Not sure 
 
It is assumed that this would require the government to issue a National Policy 
Statement before such an approach could be taken. It is not clear as to what such a 
statement would say. For example, would it identify the need for a new settlement 
of xxxxx homes in a specific region, county or local authority area and if so how 
would these areas be identified? Without some form of guidance as to the number 
required there could be a proliferation of proposals and potentially approvals.  
 
A further concern is how such proposals would then interface with the preparation 
of local plans. For example, would local plans be expected to only make a certain 
level of provision on the basis that a new settlement would be forthcoming? 

 

3.2.2 Proposal 6: Decision-making should be faster and more certain, with firm deadlines, and 

make greater use of digital technology (question 10) 

The 8 and 13-week targets for determining planning applications would remain but would 

be a firm deadline. This would be achieved through a number of means including greater 

digitisation of the application process, shorter and more standardised applications, data 

rich planning application registers and the possible right for refund of the application fee 

where an application is not determined within the specified period. 

10. Do you agree with our proposals to make decision-making faster and more certain? 

[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

Yes in principle. However, the desire to speed up the process for determining 

planning applications should not be at the expense of the quality of development 

that results. Therefore, it is considered that if the time limits for determining 

planning applications are to remain, the current system whereby both the local 

authority and the applicant agree extensions of time should be retained. 

Developers are happy with the current approach which gives flexibility and 

removing extension of time agreements would mean applications refused at 8 and 

13 weeks just to meet a target. 

If the time limits are to be firm deadlines then this needs to be balanced by the 

provision of powers for local authorities to be able to refuse to consider 

applications which are not supported by all of the necessary information. The clock 

should not start until all the necessary information is available to enable a decision 

to be fully informed.  

There will also be a need to ensure that statutory consultees are sufficiently 

resourced and managed to ensure that they respond within any timeframes.  

Consideration also needs to be given to those situations where an application has 

been submitted with all of the necessary supporting information, but a consultee 

then identifies a need for further evidence. This could potentially result in 

application’s having to be refused merely to meet the decision deadline.  

The use of more digital technology is welcomed but it should be appreciated that 

this will have resource implications for local authorities. Furthermore, it is 

important to not exclude those sections of the community who do not have access 

16



 

to technology either because they cannot afford it or choose not to use it.  

Simplification of the application process is in terms of shorter more standardised 
applications and greater standardisation of supporting information is  welcomed 
along with setting out what the key information needs to be, but equally important 
is ensuring that national policy is made clear that failure to provide this information 
would make the application invalid.   
 
A set of national standard conditions to cover common issues is to be encouraged 
providing that there is still scope for bespoke conditions to deal with site specific 
or locally occurring issues (such as the River Mease/National Forest in NWLDC). 
 
The delegation of detailed planning decisions to planning officers would speed up 
decision making but would be at the detriment to local democracy as a local ward 
councillor /community would no longer be able to request that applications are 
heard at Planning Committee.  Planning Committee members and the local 
community will almost certainly feel that their views are being marginalised. 
Therefore locally agreed call in procedures should continue to be supported. 
 

 

3.3 A new interactive, web-based standard for planning documents 

3.3.1 Proposal 7: Local Plans should be visual and map-based, standardised, based on the 

latest digital technology, and supported by a new template (question 11). 

Local plans would be web-based and interactive, supported by a more limited evidence 

base and there would be a model template for local plans. They should be accessible in 

different formats and on different devices. The consultation suggest that this could 

transform how communities engage with local plans, including making it more likely that 

younger people would engage.  

11. Do you agree with our proposals for accessible, web-based Local Plans? [Yes / No / 

Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

Yes 

The use of more digital technology is welcomed but it should be appreciated that 

this will have resource implications for local authorities. Furthermore, it is 

important to not exclude those sections of the community, including small Parish 

Councils/meetings who do not have access to technology either because they 

cannot afford it or choose not to use it. 

On the basis of what is suggested in the consultation it would appear that the 

intention is to have greater standardisation between local authorities’ local plans. It 

is not clear what room this would leave for local distinctiveness. 

 

3.4 A streamlined, more energising plan-making process 

3.4.1  Proposal 8: Local authorities and the Planning Inspectorate will be required through 

legislation to meet a statutory timetable for key stages of the process, and we will 

consider what sanctions there would be for those who fail to do so (question 12).  

Local plans would be required to be produced in 30 months with 5 stages: 

 Stage 1 – (6 months) local authority “calls for” suggestions for areas under the 

three categories of land for where development should go and what it should look 

like. 

17



 

•  Stage 2 – (12 months): The local planning authority draws up its proposed Local 

Plan, and produces any necessary evidence to inform and justify the plan. 

“Higher-risk” authorities will receive mandatory Planning Inspectorate advisory 

visits, in order to ensure the plan is on track prior to submission. 

•  Stage 3 - (6 weeks): The local planning authority simultaneously 

(i) submits the Plan for Examination; and 

(ii) publicises the plan for the public to comment on.  

•  Stage 4 - (9 months): A planning inspector considers whether the three categories 

shown in the proposed Local Plan are “sustainable” as per the statutory test and 

makes binding changes which are necessary to satisfy the test 

 Stage 5 - (6 weeks): Local Plan map and key are finalised and bought in to force. 

 

12. Do you agree with our proposals for a 30 month statutory timescale for the 

production of Local Plans? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

No.  

It must be recognised that in the real world there are many factors beyond the 

local authority’s control. For example, changes in government policy or new 

evidence which needs to be taken in to account.  There may be instances when a 

statutory consultee fails to provide advice within a reasonable timescales. In such 

circumstances local authorities would be faced with a difficult choice – carry on 

and risk plan not being considered acceptable or delay and some form of 

unknown sanctions? Local authorities (and more importantly local communities) 

should not be punished for failing to keep to a timetable that has been imposed on 

them but over which they do not have complete control. 

Binding Inspector’s Reports means that there is a lack of local control and power. 

The proposed process only incudes one opportunity for public consultation and 

this is at a stage where the local authority has set out what are, in effect, its final 

proposals for the future development of an area. This is too late in the process to 

shape the authority’s approach. Furthermore, it is likely that it will lead to the 

submission of a substantial number of comments which will then require more 

Exanimation time and put more pressure on the Planning Inspector.  

The suggested timeframe for preparation of a Local Plan is unbalanced. For 

example, it is not considered proportionate to have half as much time at 

examination (9 months) as preparation (18 months – including call for sites). As 

with determining planning applications, speed should not be at the expense of 

quality. 

 

3.4.2 Proposal 9: Neighbourhood Plans should be retained as an important means of 

community input, and we will support communities to make better use of digital tools 

(question 13) 

Proposed that consideration be given to whether neighbourhood plan content should 

become more focused to reflect the proposals for Local Plans. Also proposed to consider 

whether there is scope to extend and adapt the concept so that very small areas – such 

as individual streets – can set their own rules for the form of development which they are 

happy to see. 

 

 

13(a). Do you agree that Neighbourhood Plans should be retained in the reformed 

planning system? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 13(b). How 

can the neighbourhood planning process be developed to meet our objectives, such as in 

18



 

the use of digital tools and reflecting community preferences about design? 

Yes it is agreed that Neighbourhood Plans should continue to be retained and form 

part of the development plan for an area. However, many of the proposals set out in 

the consultation are at odds with localism and there are concerns that the proposal 

to introduce national policies in respect of design and development management 

will remove much of the scope for encouraging a truly local approach to design 

issues and so undermine neighbourhood plans.  

13(b). How can the neighbourhood planning process be developed to meet our 

objectives, such as in the use of digital tools and reflecting community preferences about 

design? 

There is no doubt that digital tools have the potential to assist neighbourhood plan 

groups, but only if they are made available to all at no cost and able to be used on 

home computers without expensive software  packages. There will also need to be 

support available to deal with any queries or problems. To ensure that design is 

addressed in neighbourhood plans there would be merit in publishing guidance to 

help groups, such as that which was published when the then Countryside 

Commission introduced Village Design Statements.  

 

3.5 Speeding up the delivery of development 

3.5.1 Proposal 10: A stronger emphasis on build out through planning (question 14) 

No specific proposals are set out at this stage, beyond proposing to make it clear through 

the NPPF that masterplans and design codes (see Pillar Two) should seek to include a 

variety of development types by different builders which allow more phases to come 

forward together and that further options to explore faster build out are being explored 

14. Do you agree there should be a stronger emphasis on the build out of developments? 
And if so, what further measures would you support? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide 
supporting statement.] 
 
Yes in principle, but local authorities need to be provided with the necessary 
powers and tools to ensure that development does proceed at a suitable pace. 
Possible measures could include a consideration of the track record of a developer 
in terms of delivery when determining planning applications and appeals. 
Alternatively, there could be an uplift to any payments due under an infrastructure 
levy if development does not proceed in accordance with agreed schedules.   
 

 

4.0 PILLAR TWO - PLANNING FOR BEAUTIFUL AND SUSTAINABLE PLACES 

4.1 Creating frameworks for quality  

 

15. What do you think about the design of new development that has happened recently 

in your area? [Not sure or indifferent / Beautiful and/or well-designed / Ugly and/ or 

poorly-designed / There hasn’t been any / Other – please specify]  

Since 2008, North West Leicestershire District Council has invested considerable 

time and effort into improving design quality across our district including 

employing an Urban Designer to help improve design quality. It is considered that 

there is a far higher standard of design in the district by virtue of the Councils 

adopted Supplementary Design Guidance “Good Design in North West 

Leicestershire” and the continued commitment of officers and members. There is 

a strong policy framework and, in the case of residential development, a link to 

19



 

using Building for Life12 to engage in the delivery of proposals. 

16. Sustainability is at the heart of our proposals. What is your priority for sustainability in 

your area? [Less reliance on cars / More green and open spaces / Energy efficiency of 

new buildings / More trees / Other – please specify] 

All of these to some degree. The council has declared a Climate Emergency and 

has also developed a Zero Carbon Roadmap with the aim of being a Net Zero 

Carbon Council by 2030 and a Net Zero Carbon district by 2050. Alongside a focus 

on renewable energy, buildings and transport are also both key sustainability 

work streams.  With housing our focus is on driving the energy efficiency of new 

builds and developing an effective retrofit programme to improve standards 

across existing building stock. With transport it is about driving a reduction in 

usage through building greater connectivity across our district and promoting 

walking, cycling, public transport and cleaner vehicles (eg EVs). The Council’s 

Design Guidance emphasises the importance of open spaces and tree planting, 

reflecting the districts location as part of the National Forest.  

 

4.1.1 Proposal 11: To make design expectations more visual and predictable, we will expect 

design guidance and codes to be prepared locally with community involvement, and 

ensure that codes are more binding on decisions about development (question 17). 

It is proposed that design guidance and codes should only be given weight in the planning 

process if it can be demonstrated that they have been prepared with community input. 

Where this is the case, the consultation states that “we will also make clear that decisions 

on design should be made in line with these documents”. 

17. Do you agree with our proposals for improving the production and use of design 
guides and codes? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 
Not sure 
 
It is considered that Design Codes are an essential part of helping to ensure design 
quality. However, there can still be quite a variation in interpretation of a code, 
which depends both on the quality of the document and also the aspiration and 
intent of the user.  
 
There needs to clarity as to what the threshold will be for community involvement 
(and indeed what the definition of community might be). Will these need to be 
‘signed off’ by the community or is it sufficient to show that the community have 
been given an opportunity to participate in their preparation?  
 
One of the challenges always is to encourage a positive response to new 
development, which is seldom forthcoming as there is a tendency to focus on the 
(perceived) negative impact of development.  
 
The preparation of a number of Design Codes will have significant resource and 
skill implications. It is acknowledged that this is recognised in the consultation 
document, but it should not be under estimated, particularly in the early years of 
any new processes.  

 

 

4.1.2 Proposal 12: To support the transition to a planning system which is more visual and 

rooted in local preferences and character, we will set up a body to support the delivery of 

provably locally-popular design codes, and propose that each authority should have a 

chief officer for design and place-making (question 18). 

20



 

The consultation recognises that the proposals “set out will require a step-change in the 

design skills available to many local planning authorities as well as ….  leadership” and 

that the government will provide support. This support could include the establishment of 

a new expert body, possibly with a monitoring function “performing a wider monitoring and 

challenge role for the sector in building better places”. 

Further proposals later this year are promised for "improving the resourcing of planning 

departments more broadly”. 

18. Do you agree that we should establish a new body to support design coding and 
building better places, and that each authority should have a chief officer for design and 
place-making? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 
Not sure 
 
Whilst a design body could be a useful addition, it raises a question of its role and 
status and what any interrelationship might be with the Council’s existing 
arrangements which have led to bespoke design solutions for the local area (see 
response to question 15). It is important that this local distinction is not lost and 
replaced by a more generic, centralised approach. 
 
It would also be useful to understand what is meant by the phrase 'provably locally 
popular'? 
 
The Council supports the idea to have a chief officer for design and place making.  

 

4.1.3 Proposal 13: To further embed national leadership on delivering better places, we will 

consider how Homes England’s strategic objectives can give greater emphasis to 

delivering beautiful places (question 19). 

19. Do you agree with our proposal to consider how design might be given greater 
emphasis in the strategic objectives for Homes England? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please 
provide supporting statement.] 
 
Yes 
 
Previous experience of Homes England development in North West Leicestershire 
is that design was not at the heart of the process which tends to be driven more by 
the number of homes delivered/supported. Proposals which provide a greater 
emphasis on improving design quality and environmental standards in all Homes 
England’s activities and programmes of work would be welcomed, but it must meet 
the Council’s own requirements for design quality as et out in the Design 
Guidance. 
 

 

4.2 A fast-track for beauty 

4.2.1 Proposal 14: We intend to introduce a fast-track for beauty through changes to national 

policy and legislation, to incentivise and accelerate high quality development which 

reflects local character and preferences (question 20). 

This builds on the work of the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission published 

earlier this year. A fast-track system was one of their recommendations.  

The consultation sets out 3 ways in which design quality will be enhanced: 

 Changes to the NPPF; 

21



 

 Legislate to require that a masterplan and site-specific code are agreed as a 

condition of the permission in principle which is granted through the local plan for 

where areas for significant development are identified; 

 legislate to widen and change the nature of permitted development, so that it 

enables popular and replicable forms of development to be approved easily and 

quickly, for example through the use of Pattern Books. It appears that this would 

be restricted to renewal areas. 

It is proposed to develop a limited set of form-based development types that allow the 

redevelopment of existing residential buildings where the relevant conditions are satisfied. 

Prior approval from the local planning authority would still be needed for aspects of the 

design. Local authorities and neighbourhood plans would be able to use local orders to 

modify how standard types apply in their areas.  

20. Do you agree with our proposals for implementing a fast-track for beauty? [Yes / No / 
Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 
 
Not sure 
 
The term beauty is ‘subjective’.  
 
The suggested approach presupposes that the sites in Local Plans are acceptable 
to an Inspector. What if they are not – this would represent a waste of resources 
and time.  
 
Updating the NPPF to make clear that schemes which comply with design code 
have more certainty would be welcomed. However, in reality it would not 
fundamentally change the existing system as paragraph 130 of the NPPF effectively 
establishes this. 

 
There are clear resource implications for Local Authorities if they are expected to 
provide site-specific codes for each Growth area. It is not clear from the proposal 
as to whether these should be done by the Local Authority or the site promoter but 
providing an ‘and/or’ approach certainly wouldn’t provide greater certainty. 

 
It is unclear how the use of a national pattern book would foster local 
distinctiveness which is at the heart of the design initiative in North West 
Leicestershire. Instead it represents increased centralisation. The further use of 
permitted development rights/prior approval is at odds with the intention of 
creating a less complex planning system. 

 

4.3 Effective stewardship and enhancement of our natural and historic environment 

4.3.1 Proposal 15: We intend to amend the National Planning Policy Framework to ensure that 

it targets those areas where a reformed planning system can most effectively play a role 

in mitigating and adapting to climate change and maximising environmental benefits (no 

question). 

The reformed planning system will continue to protect the places of environmental and 

cultural value which matter to people, both nationally and locally. However, the 

governments wants the reformed system to play a proactive role in promoting 

environmental recovery and long-term sustainability. A consultation on a revised NPPF in 

the autumn is proposed. 

 

4.3.2 Proposal 16: We intend to design a quicker, simpler framework for assessing 

environmental impacts and enhancement opportunities that speeds up the process while 

22



 

protecting and enhancing the most valuable and important habitats and species in 

England (no question). 

The current frameworks for assessing the environmental impact of development (e.g.  

Strategic Environmental Assessment, Sustainability Appraisal, and Environmental Impact 

Assessment) – can lead to duplication of effort and overly-long reports which inhibit 

transparency and add unnecessary delays. 

4.3.3 Proposal 17: Conserving and enhancing our historic buildings and areas in the 21st 

century (no question). 

It is envisage that Local Plans will clearly identify the location of internationally, nationally 

and locally designated heritage assets, such as World Heritage Sites and conservation 

areas, as well locally important features such as protected views. 

The government wants “to explore whether there are new and better ways of securing 

consent for routine works, to enable local planning authorities to concentrate on 

conserving and enhancing the most important historic buildings. This includes exploring 

whether suitably experienced architectural specialists can have earned autonomy from 

routine listed building consents”. 

4.3.4 Proposal 18: To complement our planning reforms, we will facilitate ambitious 

improvements in the energy efficiency standards for buildings to help deliver our world-

leading commitment to net-zero by 2050 (no question). 

The government will respond to the Future Homes Standard consultation it undertook 

earlier this year, in full in the autumn. 

It is suggested that “As local authorities are freed from many planning obligations through 

our reforms, they will be able to reassign resources and focus more fully on enforcement”. 

5.0 PILLAR THREE – PLANNING FOR INFRASTRUCTURE AND CONNECTED PLACES  

5.1 A consolidated infrastructure levy 

 

21. When new development happens in your area, what is your priority for what comes 

with it? [More affordable housing / More or better infrastructure (such as transport, 

schools, health provision) / Design of new buildings / More shops and/or employment 

space / Green space / Don’t know / Other – please specify] 

All of these are important, but their importance will differ from site-to-site and 

through time. Decisions require a balanced approach in order to ensure that the 

overall quality of development meets the Council’s aspirations.  

 

5.1.2 Proposal 19: The Community Infrastructure Levy should be reformed to be charged as a 

fixed proportion of the development value above a threshold, with a mandatory nationally-

set rate or rates and the current system of planning obligations abolished (question 22). 

The charge would: 

•  be on the final value of a development based on the applicable rate at the point 

planning permission is granted; 

 be levied at point of occupation, with prevention of occupation being a potential 

sanction for non-payment; 

 levy set nationally but monies collected and spent locally; 

 to support the timely delivery of infrastructure, local authorities allowed to borrow 

against Infrastructure Levy revenues to forward fund infrastructure; 

23



 

•  include a value-based minimum threshold below which the levy is not charged, to 

prevent low viability development becoming unviable, above the threshold, the Levy 

would only be charged on the proportion of the value that exceeded the threshold; and 

 provide greater certainty for developers and communities as to what the Levy will be. 

  

22(a). Should the Government replace the Community Infrastructure Levy and Section 
106 planning obligations with a new consolidated Infrastructure Levy, which is charged 
as a fixed proportion of development value above a set threshold? [Yes / No / Not sure. 
Please provide supporting statement.]  
 
Not sure 
 
Such an approach has the advantage, from a local authority perspective, of 
potentially being simpler than either S106 agreements or the Community 
Infrastructure Levy. However, this would be at the expense of local ownership. 
 
The proposal to exclude developments which are not viable from the levy should 
only be for a transition period as the cost of levy should be reflected in the value 
of the land paid by a developer. Only those sites where the land was purchased 
or an option agreed prior to the date on which any new levy is introduced should 
be eligible for an exception.  Developers should be required to demonstrate that 
this was the case.  
 
It is not clear as to whether the intention is that any existing S106 Agreements 
would remain in place until such time as all of the obligations have been 
discharged or would developers be able to ask to switch to the levy. Clarification 
is required and if this is the intention, how would any obligation discharged to 
date be calculated in to what would be due via a levy.  
 
S106 Agreements also secure other contributions than those with a monetary 
value. For example, the provision and future management of children’s play 
areas and open space on-site, securing sustainable travel methods and on- site 
community facilities (e.g. schools, doctors' surgeries). They are also used to 
secure mitigation which cannot be conditioned on a planning permission, such 
as the payment for air quality monitoring stations and the payment for ecological 
off-setting land. It is not clear how (or if) such contributions would be captured 
particularly as the consultation states that local authorities “would not be able to 
use Section 106 planning obligations to secure infrastructure or affordable 
housing”. 
 
The consultation is clear that the Infrastructure Levy is about land value capture, 
not mitigating specific developments. This goes against the current approach 
which is to ensure that otherwise acceptable development mitigates its impact. 
How would this approach still ensure that development did not have an 
unacceptable impact upon local communities? 
 
22(b). Should the Infrastructure Levy rates be set nationally at a single rate, set 
nationally at an area-specific rate, or set locally? [Nationally at a single rate / Nationally 
at an area-specific rate / Locally]  
 
Not sure 
 
If a rate is to be set nationally (whether at a single rate or area specific) it is not 
clear as to how any local variations in cost (for example land values or build 
costs) would be factored in. In addition, what would be the process for setting 
rates, for example, would there be any consultation before confirming rates?  
 
What measures would be put in place in terms of ensuring that any monies 

24



 

raised as part of a national levy are used to address infrastructure provision in a 
local authority area? 
 
If a rate is to be set locally, the process for doing so needs to be significantly 
simpler than that for the Community Infrastructure Levy as this has distracted 
from its attractiveness and deterred authorities from going down this route.   
 
22(c). Should the Infrastructure Levy aim to capture the same amount of value overall, 
or more value, to support greater investment in infrastructure, affordable housing and 
local communities? [Same amount overall / More value / Less value / Not sure. Please 
provide supporting statement.]  
 
Not sure 
 
If the aim is to collect monies equivalent to the national level only then this will 
mean that some areas lose out. Therefore, as an absolute minimum any national 
levy should ensure that the amount collected locally is no less than that which 
would have been secured through S106 Agreements, including affordable 
housing. 
 
22(d). Should we allow local authorities to borrow against the Infrastructure Levy, to 
support infrastructure delivery in their area? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide 
supporting statement.] 
 
Not sure 
 
It is recognised that allowing local authorities to borrow against the 
Infrastructure Levy could help to ensure that much needed infrastructure is 
provided early on in developments. However, it does represent a transfer of risk 
from developers to local authorities. A local authority could provide 
infrastructure and then for whatever reason the related development may not 
complete, leaving the authority with a gap in finances. There needs to be a 
mechanism in place to avoid this problem. 
 
There are a number of area s which are not clear: 

 At what point can a loan could be secured. For example, would it 
be when permission is granted or would it be when development 
commences; 

 Would the levy also allow for coverage of any interest which any 
loans attract, as otherwise this would be a cost to the local 
authority; 

 Would this approach be compatible with State Aid rules? 

 

5.1.3 Proposal 20: The scope of the Infrastructure Levy could be extended to capture changes 

of use through permitted development rights (question 23). 

This would enable additional funding to be secured from development which currently 

makes no contribution towards the provision of additional infrastructure, irrespective of its 

impact. 

23. Do you agree that the scope of the reformed Infrastructure Levy should capture 

changes of use through permitted development rights? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please 

provide supporting statement.] 

Yes so as to ensure that it contributes towards offsetting its potential impacts 

upon local communities, particularly in view of recent changes which have 

increased the scope of permitted development which has taken more 

development outside of S106 requirements. Not bringing permitted development 

25



 

schemes within the scope of infrastructure contributions creates an impact upon 

local communities, including, amongst other things on the ability to deliver 

balanced communities and affordable housing. 

 

5.1.4 Proposal 21: The reformed Infrastructure Levy should deliver affordable housing provision 

(question 24) 

Affordable housing provision is currently secured by local authorities via Section 106 

agreements, but the Community Infrastructure Levy cannot be spent on it. With Section 

106 planning obligations removed, it is proposed that under the Infrastructure Levy, 

authorities would be able to use funds raised through the levy to secure affordable 

housing. 

This could be secured through in-kind delivery on-site whereby the property would be sold 

to a registered provider at a discount from the market rate with the difference between the 

market rate and the discounted rate being offset against the cash liability. 

To reduce risk to local planning authorities that the number of dwellings provided is less 

than currently delivered via S106 obligations,  it is suggested that in the event of a fall in 

the housing market, that developers could be allowed  to ‘flip’ the affordable housing to 

market housing to cover liability of levy. 

Local authorities could also accept Infrastructure Levy payments in the form of land within 

or adjacent to a site. Through borrowing against further Infrastructure Levy receipts, other 

sources of funding, or in partnership with affordable housing providers, they could then 

build affordable homes, enabling delivery at pace. 

An alternative option would be to allow a local authority or provider to purchase a 

proportion of properties on-site at a discounted price broadly equivalent to build costs. 

The proportion would be set nationally, and the developer would have discretion over 

which units were sold in this way. 

24(a). Do you agree that we should aim to secure at least the same amount of affordable 
housing under the Infrastructure Levy, and as much on-site affordable provision, as at 
present? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]  
 
Yes.  
 
Any changes to the existing model of delivery of affordable housing through 
planning gain must lead to no reduction in delivery and that can only be guaranteed 
by allowing the LPA to insist on delivery onsite as other options introduce 
uncertainty. 
 
However, it is not clear how the proposed mechanism to ensure that delivery of 
affordable housing is maintained will actually be achieved. The suggested 
approach could result in less affordable housing.   
 
The consultation states that “This could be secured through in-kind delivery on-
site, which could be made mandatory where an authority has a requirement, 
capability and wishes to do so”. It is not clear as to what this means. For example, 
who judges ‘capability’? Is it something to be assessed through the Examination 
process? What happens in terms of the provision of affordable housing in those 
circumstances where an authority does not satisfy this statement? 
 
One of the criticisms of the existing arrangements is the uncertainty of negotiation 
around affordable housing. Any replacement must introduce detailed mechanisms 
to address this. For example if “capability” as discussed above relates to the 
financial ability to make an acceptable capital contribution toward affordable 

26



 

housing on the part of the receiving organisation, one way of creating this certainty 
would be to fix the valuation mechanism and level of contribution.  
 
It is not clear as to how local authorities will have the means to specify the form 
and tenure of on-site provision. What factors will need to be taken in to account 
and how will viability issues be expected to be taken in to account? This should be 
based on the need at the point in time when a proposal is brought forward rather 
than being a one-time only need as need will change through time.  However, it is 
recognised that there is a need to balance an ability to address emerging 
need/demand with a position of certainty to both the LPA and the applicant. For 
example, to enable a developer to properly account for the costs associated with 
providing the affordable housing onsite as early as possible. 
 
24(b). Should affordable housing be secured as in-kind payment towards the 
Infrastructure Levy, or as a ‘right to purchase’ at discounted rates for local authorities? 
[Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]  
 
Yes 
 
In-kind payment towards the Infrastructure Levy as this provides more flexibility as 
to who would then take ownership of properties.  
 
In the event that it is decided to go down the ‘right to purchase’ route, there should 
be an opportunity for the local authority to put forward potential recipient landlords 
where they are not in a position to take on the stock themselves, and where the 
developer has identified a recipient has controls to ensure that the recipient is a 
suitable entity to own/manage affordable housing. 
 
24(c). If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, should we mitigate against local authority 
overpayment risk? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]  
 
Yes, but only if there are adequate measures to ensure that the value of affordable 
housing is maintained in the event of a down turn in the housing market. 
 
24(d). If an in-kind delivery approach is taken, are there additional steps that would need 
to be taken to support affordable housing quality? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide 
supporting statement.] 
 
Yes, but the suggestion that local authorities should be able to take a cash option 
where no provider will take the affordable housing due to poor build quality is not 
considered to be appropriate as it will simply then result in local authorities having 
to commit resources to bring forward the affordable housing elsewhere.  

 

5.1.5 Proposal 22: More freedom could be given to local authorities over how they spend the 

Infrastructure Levy (question 25) 

Proposed to retain the provisions of the Community Infrastructure Levy whereby 25% of 

levy is spent in the area where development occurs, with money transferred to Parish 

Councils. Potential for greater flexibility for local authorities as to how the levy is spent, 

including improving services or reducing council tax. However, could also require ring-

fencing to ensure that affordable housing provision remains at same as (or higher than) 

current levels.  

25. Should local authorities have fewer restrictions over how they spend the Infrastructure 

Levy? [Yes / No / Not sure. Please provide supporting statement.]  

Not sure 

It is important that the impact of any particular development on a locality is 

27



 

adequately offset by the provision of new or improved infrastructure. The 

suggestion that once core infrastructure has been addressed a local authority 

should have greater flexibility as to how monies are used, is supported but there 

will need to be a clear definition of what constitutes core infrastructure. It is 

important that no impression is created of planning permissions being bought and 

sold. This could be defined locally.  

25(a). If yes, should an affordable housing ‘ring-fence’ be developed? [Yes / No / Not 

sure. Please provide supporting statement.] 

Yes? 

 

6.0 DELIVERING CHANGE  

6.1 The White Paper recognise that there will be a need for transitional arrangements, from 
the current approach to that proposed in the White Paper. However, no detail is available 
at this time.  

 

6.2 The government also recognise that the proposed changes will have significant resource 

implications for local authorities, in addition to current shortages. However, the 

consultation suggests that “there must be a fundamental cultural change on how planning 

departments operate. They need to be more outward looking, proactively engaging with 

developers, businesses, architects and designers, as well as a wider cross-section of 

their local communities”. 

6.3 It is recognised that other players, such as statutory consultees and the Planning 

Inspectorate will also need to transform to respond to the changes.  

6.4.1 Proposal 23: As we develop our final proposals for this new planning system, we will 

develop a comprehensive resources and skills strategy for the planning sector to support 

the implementation of our reforms. In doing so, we propose this strategy will be developed 

including the following key elements (no questions) 

The cost of the planning system should continue to be met by the main beneficiaries – 

landowners and developers. Fees for planning applications would continue to be set 

nationally and so would cover cost of processing planning applications.  

The cost of preparing local plans and taking enforcement action is borne by local 

authorities. The consultation suggests that as part of new infrastructure levy that a 

proportion could be earmarked to cover other costs.  

Reform should be accompanied by a significant enhancement in digital and geospatial 

capability and capacity across the planning sector to support high-quality new digital 

Local Plans and digitally enabled decision-making. 

It is recognised different local planning authorities face different pressures and issues, 

and it will be important to develop a resourcing and skills framework which works for all 

authorities across the country. Government propose to work with local planning 

authorities, professional bodies and the wider planning sector to ensure views about 

implementation are considered. 

6.4.2 Proposal 24: We will seek to strengthen enforcement powers and sanctions (no question) 

It is proposed to review and strengthen the existing planning enforcement powers and 

sanctions available to local planning authorities to ensure they support the new planning 

system. 

More powers to address intentional unauthorised development, consider higher fines, and 

look to ways of supporting more enforcement activity. 

28



 

7.0  GENERAL OBSERVATIONS 
 
7.1  Seeking improvements to the planning system is a laudable aim. However, a number of 

proposals seek to ensure speed which may be at odds with quality. Whatever decision is 
made by government needs to balance speed and efficiency with openness and 
transparency. Good decisions are good decisions however long they take. Bad decisions 
are something which the local community have to live with.   

 
7.2  As already noted there is a lack of detail, which is to be expected from a White Paper, 

and no doubt through time the proposals will develop and evolve. However, a key aspect 
to a number of the proposals is that they would result in increased centralisation and the 
loss of local control. It is difficult to reconcile this with improving the planning system.  

 
7.3  A key concern at this stage is the lack of any details regarding possible transition 

arrangements. The White Paper states that in terms of Local Plans “The proposals allow 
30 months for new Local Plans to be in place so a new planning framework, so we would 
expect new Local Plans to be in place by the end of the Parliament “. The current 
Parliament is due to end in December 2024. There is a risk that the current review of the 
Local Plan could be impacted by these changes. However, there is insufficient certainty 
that the proposals as they are currently outlined will be implemented. It will be necessary 
to keep this matter under review and, if necessary, make adjustments to the scope and 
content of the review.   

 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

- Supporting Coalville to be a more vibrant, family-
friendly town 
- Support for businesses and helping people into local 
jobs 
- Developing a clean and green district 
- Local people live in high quality, affordable homes 
- Our communities are safe, healthy and connected. 

Policy Considerations: 
 

The proposals outlined in the consultation have the 
potential to have a fundamental impact upon the 
Council’s Local Plan, which is currently being 
reviewed.  

Safeguarding: 
 

None identified at this time. 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

Some aspects of the proposals set out in the White 
Paper have a potential to have a negative impact 
upon some sectors of the community. For example, 
the greater use of digital technology could impact 
those without access to computers and so prohibit 
their participation in the planning system.   
 
Furthermore if proposals relating to affordable 
housing shift the role of specifying the affordable 
housing  contribution in favour of the developer there 
is a risk that specialist provision will be reduced 
impacting on groups with protected characteristics. 

Customer Impact: 
 

No issues identified  

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

No specific issues identified, but see comments under 
policy considerations and risks. 

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

No specific issues identified, but see comments under 
policy considerations and risks. 

Consultation/Community Engagement: 
 

None   

Risks: 
 

The proposals set out in the White Paper would have 
significant resource implications for the Council. 

29



 

 
Depending upon the timing of any changes, there 
could be an impact upon the Local Plan review in 
terms of its scope, content and look. If transition 
arrangements are not put in place or are not robust, 
there is a risk that current work on the review could 
be jeopardised or lost. This matter will need to be 
kept under review. 

Officer Contact 
 

Ian Nelson  
Planning Policy Team Manager  
01530 454677  
ian.nelson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A  

30

mailto:ian.nelson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


 

 
 
PILLAR ONE OVERVIEW 
 
1. What three words do you associate most with the planning system in England?  
 
 
2(a). Do you get involved with planning decisions in your local area? [Yes / No] 2(b). If no, why 
not? [Don’t know how to / It takes too long / It’s too complicated / I don’t care / Other – please 
specify]  
 
 
3. Our proposals will make it much easier to access plans and contribute your views to planning 
decisions. How would you like to find out about plans and planning proposals in the future? 
[Social media / Online news / Newspaper / By post / Other – please specify]  
 
 
4. What are your top three priorities for planning in your local area? [Building homes for young 
people / building homes for the homeless / Protection of green spaces / The environment, 
biodiversity and action on climate change / Increasing the affordability of housing / The design of 
new homes and places / Supporting the high street / Supporting the local economy / More or 
better local infrastructure / Protection of existing heritage buildings or areas / Other – please 
specify] 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31



This page is intentionally left blank



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE – THURSDAY 15 OCTOBER 2020 
 

Title of Report 
 

LOCAL PLAN REVIEW – POTENTIAL STRATEGIC 
DEVELOPMENT SITES : OUTCOME FROM 
INFRASTRUCTURE STUDY AND LANDSCAPE SENSTIVITY 
ASSESSMENT  

Presented by Ian Nelson  
Planning Policy Team Manager  
 

Background Papers  
Strategic Housing and 
Economic Land Availability 
Assessment 2019 
 
Leicestershire International 
Gateway: Potential Strategic 
Sites Infrastructure Study 
 
North west Leicestershire  
landscape sensitivity study: 
for mixed development 
appraisal of potential 
development sites A,B, C 
and D 
 
North West Leicestershire 
landscape sensitivity study 
 

Public Report: Yes 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Financial Implications The cost of work undertaken so far has been met from existing 
budgets. Budgetary provision has been made for further work as 
necessary.  
 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications None identified  
 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

None identified  

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 
 

Purpose of Report To outline for members the outcome from an assessment of 
infrastructure issues and potential landscape impacts associated 
with four potential strategic development sites which have been 
put forward for consideration as part of the Local Plan review.  

Recommendations THAT MEMBERS: 
 

(I) NOTE THE OUTCOME FROM THE INFRASTRUCTURE 
STUDY AND LANDSCAPE SENSTIVITY APPRAISAL; 

(II) NOTE THAT NONE OF THE FOUR SITES IDENTIFIED 
IN THE REPORT ARE TO BE DISCOUNTED AT THIS 
TIME; AND 

(III) NOTE THE INTENTION TO DEVELOP OPTIONS FOR A 
POTENTIAL FUTURE DEEVLOPMENT STRATEGY 

 
 
 
 

33

Agenda Item 6

https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/strategic_housing_and_economic_land_availabilty_assessment
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/strategic_housing_and_economic_land_availabilty_assessment
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/strategic_housing_and_economic_land_availabilty_assessment
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/potential_strategic_sites_infrastructure_study/Potential%20Strategic%20Sites%20Infrastructure%20Study.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/potential_strategic_sites_infrastructure_study/Potential%20Strategic%20Sites%20Infrastructure%20Study.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/potential_strategic_sites_infrastructure_study/Potential%20Strategic%20Sites%20Infrastructure%20Study.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/appraisal_of_site_a_b_c_and_d/Appraisal%20of%20Sites%20A%20B%20C%20D.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/appraisal_of_site_a_b_c_and_d/Appraisal%20of%20Sites%20A%20B%20C%20D.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/appraisal_of_site_a_b_c_and_d/Appraisal%20of%20Sites%20A%20B%20C%20D.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/appraisal_of_site_a_b_c_and_d/Appraisal%20of%20Sites%20A%20B%20C%20D.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/appraisal_of_site_a_b_c_and_d/Appraisal%20of%20Sites%20A%20B%20C%20D.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/appraisal_of_site_a_b_c_and_d/Appraisal%20of%20Sites%20A%20B%20C%20D.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/local_plan_review_evidence_base
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/local_plan_review_evidence_base


 

1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 Members will recall that the Council’s Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability 

Assessment (SHELAA) identifies three large-scale potential development sites around 

Castle Donington and East Midlands Airport. These sites are: 

 CD10 – Land North of Park Lane Castle Donington (Site C on the plan at Appendix A) 

 IW1 - Land South and West of Isley Walton (Site A on the plan at Appendix A) 

IW2 - Land south of East Midlands Airport, Isley Walton (Site B on the plan at Appendix 

A) 

1.2  The sites were put forward as mixed housing/employment development, although housing 

was anticipated to be the dominant use.    

1.3 The Council is currently considering two planning applications in respect of employment 

proposals on land immediately south of the A50 at Castle Donington/Hemington (Site I on 

the plan at Appendix A) and at Netherfield Lane (Site J on the plan at Appendix A ) .  

1.4 These five sites are all located relatively closely together in an a part of the district which 

is home to existing facilities such as East Midlands Airport and Donington Park Racetrack 

and has already seen significant development (for example the Strategic Rail Freight 

Interchange and the start of construction on about 900 homes at Castle Donington).  

1.5 The northern part of North West Leicestershire is identified in the Strategic Growth Plan 

(“SGP”) as Part of the ‘Leicestershire International Gateway’ (“the Gateway”). The SGP 

identifies that the Gateway could accommodate about 11,200 dwellings, of which at least 

5,200 dwellings would be in North West Leicestershire (the remainder in Charnwood).  

1.6 The Local Plan review will need to consider all reasonable alternatives. In considering 

such alternatives it will be important to understand what the potential implications are on a 

number of factors, including infrastructure and landscape.  

1.7 In respect of infrastructure, it was decided to commission a high-level assessment of the 

five sites referred to above to understand at a strategic level the potential infrastructure 

implications. In addition, for the three potential strategic development sites it was also 

decided to commission a landscape sensitivity assessment. A similar piece of work had 

been previously undertaken for the main settlements across the district to help inform 

future decisions about the allocation of sites for development. These sites are located 

further afield and so they had not been covered in this previous study.   

1.8 A further potential strategic site (Site D on the plan at Appendix A) was identified to 

officers by Councillor Saffell around the junction of the A42 and A444 and it was decided 

to include this site in both the infrastructure study and the landscape assessment as well. 

Unlike sites A, B and C this site does not, at this stage, have any landowner support. 

1.9 This report summarises the findings from both of these studies in respect of the strategic 

sites. 

2.0 INFRASTRUCTURE STUDY  
 
 The study 
 
2.1 The infrastructure study was undertaken by Arup, an established multi-disciplinary 

consultancy. The study considered 18 infrastructure types covering utilities, community 

facilities, and healthcare and emergency services. It also considers flood risk, air quality, 

and noise pollution as key development constraints relevant to whether development can 

be accommodated on the sites. Further details are set out at Appendix B of this report. It 

is important to note that a key infrastructure which was not considered as part of the study 

was transport. This will be picked up in additional work (see section 4 of this report). 

34



 

2.2 The study involved a combination of desktop assessment and targeted stakeholder 

engagement. As it is a high level assessment it is does not go in to detail. Such matters 

would need to be picked up through additional work.  

2.3 A copy of the report can be viewed here. 
 
 The findings 
 
2.4 For most of the infrastructure and constraint types considered, it was established that 

relatively typical levels of mitigation and investment would be likely to be required to make 
development acceptable. In terms of the infrastructure considered, no fundamental 
barriers to development in the study area were identified.  

2.5 The scale and distribution of development potentially envisaged means that strategic 
approaches to delivery will be required – particularly for sewerage provision, primary and 
secondary schools, and GP surgeries. Engagement with Western Power Distribution has 
also identified that the electricity supply network within the study area is almost saturated, 
and therefore likely to necessitate the provision of a new primary substation at relatively 
significant cost to allow any of the sites to be developed. 

2.6 For the individual sites considered, the following conclusions were reached: 

 
2.6.1 Sites A and B, West and East of Isley Walton (Residential) 
 

No unmitigable constraints identified, but significant new infrastructure provision and/or 
mitigation is likely to be required for nine of the infrastructure and constraint types 
considered. 

 Gas main investment - £375,000 (whether one or both sites developed) 

 New primary substation required – on-site costs of £5.7m (combined) 
Recommended that this be somewhere within Sites A and B 

 Possible need to relocate WwTW at Castle Donington 

 New primary school(s) – for each site 2 or 3 form entry (greater flexibility if sites 
come forward together) 

 Secondary education - Expansion of Castle Donington College 

 Between 6.7 and 13.8 Ha of outdoor sports provision required 

 Community facility of 180sqm to 370sqm required 

 Potential need for new GP surgery (definitely, if both sites developed as one) 

 Opportunities to provide improvements to offsite flood risk management 

 Some air quality mitigation measures may be required  

 Not a ‘showstopper’, but proximity to EMA will require careful consideration in 
respect of a number of issues including lighting and bird habitats 

2.6.2 Because Sites A and B are adjacent, a more holistic approach to infrastructure provision 
would be possible if both are developed together. In discussion with the site promoters, 
officers have raised this issue, as it would make for sound planning.  

2.6.3 Site C, West of Castle Donington (Residential) 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, this is site CD10 from the SHELAA referred to above at 
paragraph 1.1. 

No unmitigable constraints identified, but significant new infrastructure provision and/or 
mitigation is likely to be required for seven of the infrastructure and constraint types 
considered. 

 

35

https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/potential_strategic_sites_infrastructure_study/Potential%20Strategic%20Sites%20Infrastructure%20Study.pdf


 

 New primary substation required – as per sties A and B. Would require some 
diversion work estimated at £30,000 is in addition to the cost of the new primary 
substation above, and onsite cabling and connection costs estimated at £1.7m for 
a total of 1,425 dwellings. 

 Additional WwTW capacity required. Depending upon combination of sites this 
may require relocation of  WwTW at Castle Donington 

 New primary school(s) – for each site 1 or 2 form entry (this would be in addition to 
a new school to be provided as part of current Park Lane development as that has 
been designed to only meet the needs from that site) 

 Secondary education - Expansion of Castle Donington College 

 Between 4.1 and 8.2 Ha of outdoor sports provision required 

 Contributions required towards enhancement of existing community facilities  

 Unable to support new GP surgery, but will be challenging to enhance existing 
facilities.  If sites A and/or B developed then may be able to link to any new 
facilities provided on those sites.  

 Not a ‘showstopper’, but proximity to EMA will require careful consideration in 
respect of a number of issues including lighting and bird habitat 

 
2.6.4  Site D, South of the A42/A453 Junction (Residential) 

 
Several significant constraints to development identified which whilst not totally 
insurmountable, would be very difficult to mitigate and are therefore considered likely to 
impact the viability of development. This reflects the relatively isolated location of the site, 
at some distance from existing settlements and infrastructure. 

 Gas main investment – this will be challenging to connect to the gas supply 
network due to distance from network. Cadent Gas has not been able to provide 
indicative cost figures for connection, but these are understood to be significant. 

 New primary substation required – assuming this is located near sites A and B 
WPD has estimated the cost of a cabling at £2.9m, in addition to the cost of the 
new primary substation and onside cabling and connection costs estimated at 
£6.2m for a total of 5,200 dwellings. 

 STW has expressed fundamental concern about sewerage provision. Its closest 
WwTW is in Worthington, and the scale of development envisaged would 
necessitate significant enlargement. However, because of the small scale of the 
receiving watercourse from Worthington WwTW, STW has indicated that a 
significant influx of treated water may have adverse environmental implications. 

 New primary school(s) –between 3.7 and 7.2 forms of entry would be required, 
potentially requiring at least two new schools. 

 Secondary education – on-site provision required for between 3.7 and 7.2 forms of 
entry. The smallest Secondary School that would be considered by LCC would be 
for 600 pupil places (4 forms of entry), requiring a land take of 5ha and cost in the 
region of £18.5 million to construct. 

 Between 15 and 30 Ha of outdoor sports provision required 

 Community facility of 406sqm to 811sqm required 

 Need for new GP surgery. CCG has suggested best achieved through relocation 
of existing surgery at Belton. 

 LLFA has expressed particular concerns around potential impacts on flood risk in 
Breedon. Because of the size of the site the LLFA has reserved judgement as to 
whether this is likely to be achievable until further details on the scale and layout of 
development are available. 

 Some air quality mitigation measures may be required (possible issues from 
construction of HS2 but may depend upon timing of new development) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

36



 

3.0  LANDSCAPE SENSITIVITY STUDY  
 
 The study  
 
3.1 The study was undertaken by Gillespies an established consultancy specialising in 

design, landscape planning and landscape assessments.  

3.2 The purpose of the study was to establish how the sites are, in landscape terms, sensitive 
to the impact of any new development. It does this through assessing both landscape and 
visual sensitivity. The study reflects the latest guidance presented in the Guidelines for 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment Third edition (GLVIA3); the industry standard 
for landscape and visual assessment. 

3.3 The study was undertaken through a six-stage assessment: 

Stage 1-  Desk based identification and description of the type of developments to be 
assessed 

Stage 2 - Desk based identification of the four sites to be assessed 
Stage 3 - Field Survey to identify and describe the current landscape and visual resource 
Stage 4 - Assessment of landscape and visual sensitivity by combining judgements about 

susceptibility and value 
Stage 5 - Consideration of value and susceptibility to give an overall judgement on 

sensitivity 
Stage 6 - Preparation of maps and diagrams to identify key landscape and visual 

considerations in relation to the siting of future development and opportunities 
for mitigation 

 
3.4  At stage 5 each site was assessed and categorised according to the level of sensitivity 

recorded on a five-point scale (low, medium-low, medium, medium-high and high). For the 
avoidance of doubt, a site that is assessed as being high is one where the landscape is 
more sensitive to change than one which is assessed as being low. 

 
3.5 Further details regarding the methodology can be seen in the report which can be viewed 

here.  
 
 The findings  
 
3.6 The table below summarises the outcome from the assessment. 
 

Site Landscape sensitivity Visual sensitivity  

A Medium Medium-high 

B Medium Medium 

C Medium Medium - Low 

D Medium-high Medium 

 
3.7 It is important to note that a site assessed as being high or medium-high is not 

necessarily unacceptable for development. The landscape assessment is just one factor 
which needs to be taken in to account. Furthermore, the assessment is based on without 
mitigation measures being put in place. Mitigation measures would largely depend upon 
the exact nature and scope of a development and could potentially change the outcome 
from that assessed.  

 
4.0 CONCLUSIONS AND NEXT STEPS  
 
4.1 In terms of infrastructure, the study highlights that there are issues associated with all of 

the sites, which is to be expected. It does, however, highlight more significant issues in 
respect of Site D.  

 
4.2 A further issue in respect of site D is that the site has not been promoted by a landowner 

or developer. At this stage officers have not sought to identify who the owners may be, 

37

https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/appraisal_of_site_a_b_c_and_d/Appraisal%20of%20Sites%20A%20B%20C%20D.pdf


 

but it is likely that it would be in multiple ownerships. Sites A, B and C on the other hand 
are promoted by landowners.  

 
4.3 From a landscape perspective there is very little to choose between the sites, although 

sites A and D do score medium-high in one category each.  
 
4.4 As already noted, the infrastructure study has not considered transport related issues. 

The scale of development on each of these four sites is such that an impact upon the 
highway network can be anticipated.  

 
4.5 At this stage it would not be appropriate to exclude further consideration of these sites on 

the basis from the outcome form these two studies, not least because there is still 
uncertainty regarding the scale of new housing growth that will have to be provided for.   

 
4.6 The Council’s SHELAA identifies a large number of other potential sites, in addition to 

those referred to in this report. Officers are in the process of assessing each of these 
sites against a detailed methodology, including landscape issues which will be informed 
by the district wide landscape study referred to at paragraph 1.7. That study can be 
viewed here.  

 
4.7 Notwithstanding the current uncertainty regarding future housing requirements, officers 

are also developing a series of development strategy options for how growth might be 
distributed across the district. This will also be subject to transport modelling so as to 
understand what the impact might be upon the highway network.  

 
4.8 The outcome of this work will need to be combined with the assessment of all the 

potential sites identified in the SHELAA, as well as a transport assessment to identify the 
Council’s preferred sites which it wishes to take forward as part of the substantive review 
of the local Plan. 

 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

Local people live in high quality, affordable homes 
 
Our communities are safe, healthy and connected 

Policy Considerations: 
 

The Local Plan review will need to set out a 
development strategy for the district. Options for this 
will be developed as part of the review process.  

Safeguarding: 
 

None identified at this time 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

None identified at this time   

Customer Impact: 
 

No issues identified  

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

Not considered to date. This is a matter which will 
need to be addressed through further work.  

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

Other than potential impact upon the landscape these 
issues have not been considered to date. This is a 
matter which will need to be addressed through 
further work. 

Consultation/Community Engagement: 
 

None   

Risks: 
 

The Local Plan must identify sufficient land to meet 
the identified needs of the district.  
 
In considering how to best meet these needs it is 
necessary to consider all reasonable alternatives. On 
the basis of these studies it would not be appropriate 
to exclude further consideration of these sites at this 
stage.  

38

https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/local_plan_review_evidence_base


 

Officer Contact 
 

Ian Nelson  
Planning Policy Team Manager  
01530 454677  
ian.nelson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

39

mailto:ian.nelson@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Site B

Site D

Site C

Site A

Reproduction from Ordnance  1:1250 mapping with permission of the Controller of HMSO
Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction  infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to 
prosecution or civil proceedings Licence No: 100019329

41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 
 

Category Infrastructure/Constraint 
Type 

Stakeholder 

Utilities 

Gas supply Cadent Gas 

Electricity supply Western Power Distribution 

Water supply 
Sewerage 

Severn Trent Water 

Digital infrastructure Leics CC – Superfast Leicestershire 

Community 
Infrastructure 

Primary education 
Secondary education 
Special educational needs 
provision 

Leics CC – Education 

Indoor and outdoor sports 
provision 

North West Leics DC – Leisure 

Healthcare & 
Emergency 
Services 

GP Surgeries 
West Leicestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Other 
development 
constraints 

Flood risk management 
Leics CC – Lead Local Flood 
Authority 

Flood risk management Environment Agency 

Air quality mitigation 
Noise pollution mitigation 

North West Leics DC – Environmental 
Health 

Noise pollution mitigation East Midlands Airport 

Noise pollution mitigation Donington Park 

 

43



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Planning for the Future White Paper - Response to Consultation
	6 Potential Strategic Sites Infrastructure Study
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


